Guidance for Industry Investigational New Drug Applications (INDs)— Determining Whether Human Research Studies Can Be Conducted Without an IND

DRAFT GUIDANCE

This guidance document is being distributed for comment purposes only.

Comments and suggestions regarding this draft document should be submitted within 90 days of publication in the *Federal Register* of the notice announcing the availability of the draft guidance. Submit comments to Dockets Management Branch (HFA-305), Food and Drug Administration, 5630 Fishers Lane, rm. 1061, Rockville, MD 20852. All comments should be identified with the docket number listed in the notice of availability that publishes in the *Federal Register*.

For questions regarding this draft document contact Joe Griffin (CDER) 301-796-2270, or the Office of Communication, Outreach and Development (CBER) 301-827-1800 or 800-835-4709.

U.S. Department of Health and Human Services Food and Drug Administration Center for Drug Evaluation and Research (CDER) Center for Biologics Evaluation and Research (CBER)

> October 2010 Clinical/Medical

Guidance for Industry

Investigational New Drug Applications (INDs)— Determining Whether Human Research Studies Can Be Conducted Without an IND

Additional copies are available from:

Office of Communications, Division of Drug Information Center for Drug Evaluation and Research Food and Drug Administration 10903 New Hampshire Avenue Building 51, Room 2201 Rockville, MD 20993-0002 (Tel) 301-796-3400 http://www.fda.gov/Drugs/GuidanceComplianceRegulatoryInformation/Guidances/default.htm or

Office of Communication, Outreach and Development Center for Biologics Evaluation and Research Food and Drug Administration 1401 Rockville Pike, Rockville, MD 20852-1448 (Tel) 800-835-4709 or 301-827-1800 http://www.fda.gov/BiologicsBloodVaccines/GuidanceComplianceRegulatoryInformation/Guidances/default.htm

> U.S. Department of Health and Human Services Food and Drug Administration Center for Drug Evaluation and Research (CDER) Center for Biologics Evaluation and Research (CBER)

> > October 2010 Clinical/Medical

Draft — Not for Implementation

TABLE OF CONTENTS

I.	INTRODUCTION1	
II.	BACKGROUND	
III.	RESEARCH STUDIES THAT REQUIRE AN IND	
А.	What Is a Drug?	
В.	What Is a Clinical Investigation?	
IV.	CLINICAL INVESTIGATIONS INVOLVING DRUGS GENERALLY RECOGNIZED AS SAFE AND EFFECTIVE AND CLINICAL INVESTIGATIONS EXEMPT FROM THE IND REQUIREMENTS BY REGULATION	
А.	Certain Research Involving Marketed Drug Products	
B.	Bioavailability or Bioequivalence Studies in Humans7	
C.	Radioactive Drugs for Certain Research Uses7	
V.	CLINICAL INVESTIGATIONS USING COLD ISOTOPES	
VI.	SPECIFIC ISSUES CONCERNING THE APPLICATION OF THE IND REGULATIONS	
А.	Endogenous Compounds9	
B.	Live Organisms9	
C.	Dietary Supplements9	
D.	Research with Noncommercial Intent10	
VII.	FREQUENTLY ASKED QUESTIONS 10	
VIII. APPL	PROCESS FOR ADDRESSING INQUIRIES CONCERNING THE ICATION OF THE IND REQUIREMENTS13	
APPENDIX		

Draft — Not for Implementation

Guidance for Industry¹

Investigational New Drug Applications (INDs)— Determining Whether Human Research Studies Can Be Conducted Without an IND

This draft guidance, when finalized, will represent the Food and Drug Administration's (FDA's) current thinking on this topic. It does not create or confer any rights for or on any person and does not operate to bind FDA or the public. You can use an alternative approach if the approach satisfies the requirements of the applicable statutes and regulations. If you want to discuss an alternative approach, contact the FDA staff responsible for implementing this guidance. If you cannot identify the appropriate FDA staff, call the appropriate number listed on the title page of this guidance.

I. INTRODUCTION

This guidance is intended to assist clinical investigators, sponsors, and sponsor-investigators² in determining whether human research studies must be conducted under an investigational new drug application (IND), as described in Title 21 of the Code of Federal Regulations, part 312 (21 CFR part 312) (the IND regulations). This guidance describes when an IND is required, specific situations in which an IND is not required, and a range of issues that, in FDA's experience, have been the source of confusion or misperceptions about the application of the IND regulations.

29

1

2 3

4

5

10

11

12

13

14

15

22

30 FDA's guidance documents, including this guidance, do not establish legally enforceable

31 responsibilities. Instead, guidances describe the Agency's current thinking on a topic and should

32 be viewed only as recommendations, unless specific regulatory or statutory requirements are

33 cited. The use of the word *should* in Agency guidances means that something is suggested or

34 recommended, but not required.

¹ This guidance has been prepared by the Center for Drug Evaluation and Research (CDER) in cooperation with the Center for Biologics Evaluation and Research (CBER) at the FDA.

² The definitions in the IND regulations describe specific roles for the individual or individuals who conduct a clinical investigation and the individual or entity who has primary responsibility for and initiates the clinical investigation (the sponsor) (§ 312.3(b)). In the more common scenario, there is a commercial sponsor that has primary responsibility for and initiates the clinical investigation and multiple investigators who are responsible for the actual conduct of the investigation at their respective study sites. The term *sponsor-investigator* typically refers to an individual at an academic institution who takes responsibility for, initiates, and conducts a clinical investigation at a single site and therefore meets the definition of both a sponsor and investigator for purposes of the IND regulations (sometimes referred to as an *investigator-initiated study*).

Draft — Not for Implementation

3536 II. BACKGROUND

FDA receives frequent inquiries from the academic research community (e.g., clinical
investigators, institutional review boards (IRBs)) and the pharmaceutical industry about whether

- an IND should be submitted for various types of clinical research. These inquiries have
 addressed a range of issues concerning application of the IND requirements in part 312, for
- 41 addressed a range of issues concerning application of the IND requirements in part 512, for 42 example: (1) clinical investigations using marketed drugs, (2) bioequivalence/bioavailability
- 42 example: (1) chinical investigations using marketed drugs, (2) bloequivalence/bloavallability
 43 studies, (3) studies using radiolabeled or cold isotopes, (4) studies using dietary supplements, (5)
- 44 studies using endogenous compounds, (6) pathogenesis studies using modified organisms, (7)
- 45 studies using wild-type organisms in challenge models, and (8) studies that do not have a
- 46 commercial purpose. Because of the number of inquiries and range of issues, FDA determined
- 47 that it would be helpful to provide potential sponsors, clinical investigators, and sponsor-
- 48 investigators with an overview of the IND requirements and the related issues that arise.
- 49
- 50 With certain exceptions, clinical investigations in which a drug is administered to human
- 51 subjects must be conducted under an IND as required in part 312. Sections III, IV, and V of this
- 52 guidance elaborate on (1) the criteria for when a study must be conducted under an IND, (2) the
- 53 types of studies that involve drugs that are generally recognized as safe and effective (and
- 54 therefore IND requirements do not apply) or that are exempt from the IND requirements, (3)
- 55 FDA's use of enforcement discretion with respect to certain studies using cold isotopes
- 56 conducted without an IND, and (4) the types of issues that have arisen concerning application of
- 57 the IND requirements. This guidance also provides a process for seeking advice from FDA
- 58 concerning the application of the IND regulations to a planned clinical investigation.
- 59 60

61

65

66 67 68

69 70

71 72

III. RESEARCH STUDIES THAT REQUIRE AN IND

- In general, the IND regulations in part 312 require that human research studies be conducted
 under an IND if all of the following conditions exist:
 - The research involves a *drug* as that term is defined in section 201(g)(1) of the Federal Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act (the FD&C Act) (21 U.S.C. 321(g)(1)).
 - The research is a *clinical investigation* as defined in the IND regulations (21 CFR 312.3).
 - The clinical investigation is not otherwise *exempt* from the IND requirements in part 312 (see section IV of this guidance).
 - A. What Is a Drug?
- 73 74 75
- The definition of the term *drug* in section 201(g)(1) of the FD&C Act includes, among other things, "articles intended for use in the diagnosis, cure, mitigation, treatment, or prevention of disease . . ." and "articles (other than food) intended to affect the structure or any function of the body of man or other animals." Biological products subject to licensure under section 351 of the Public Health Service Act (42 U.S.C. 262) may also be considered drugs within the meaning of the FD&C Act. It is important to note that the *drug* definition is not limited to compounds

Draft — Not for Implementation

81 intended for a therapeutic purpose.³ The definition also includes compounds intended to affect
82 the structure or function of the body, without regard to whether the compound is intended to
83 influence a disease process. For example, the definition includes compounds administered to
84 healthy subjects to blunt or provoke a physiologic response or to study the mechanism of action
85 or metabolism of a drug. Note, however, that a dietary supplement (as defined in section VI.C)
86 intended only to affect the structure or function of the body and not intended for a therapeutic
87 purpose is not a drug.

88 89

90

93

94

95

B. What Is a Clinical Investigation?

91 The IND regulations in § 312.3(b) define *clinical investigation*⁴ as:
92

... [an] experiment in which a drug is administered or dispensed to, or used involving, one or more human subjects. For the purposes of [the IND regulations], an experiment is any use of a drug [whether approved or unapproved] except for the use of a marketed drug in the course of medical practice.

96 97

98 In contrast, use of a lawfully marketed drug in the course of medical practice involves the use in 99 an individual patient where the primary intent is to treat the patient but not to study the safety or 100 effectiveness of a drug in any systematic way. For example, FDA considers use of a lawfully 101 marketed drug in a randomized trial to be a clinical investigation.

102

103 IV. CLINICAL INVESTIGATIONS INVOLVING DRUGS GENERALLY 104 RECOGNIZED AS SAFE AND EFFECTIVE AND CLINICAL 105 INVESTIGATIONS EXEMPT FROM THE IND REQUIREMENTS BY 106 REGULATION

107

FDA regulations describe three categories of clinical investigations that are exempt from the IND requirements in part 312 or to which the IND requirements are not applicable (i.e., an IND submission is not needed for these clinical investigations), provided the criteria are met (see 21 CFR 312.2(b), 320.31(b), and 361.1). The three categories of clinical investigations and the applicable criteria are listed in the following subsections. Ordinarily, clinical investigations that do not meet these criteria must be conducted under an IND as required in part 312.

114 115

A. Certain Research Involving Marketed Drug Products

116

A clinical investigation of a drug is exempt from the IND requirements if all of the criteria for anexemption in § 312.2(b) are met:

- 119
- The drug product is lawfully marketed in the United States.
- 120 121

³ In this guidance, the term *therapeutic purpose* is intended to encompass diagnosis, cure, mitigation, treatment, and prevention of disease.

⁴ Additional information on clinical investigations is available on the FDA Web site at <u>http://www.fda.gov/ScienceResearch/SpecialTopics/RunningClinicalTrials/default.htm</u>.

122 123 124 125	•	There is no intent to report the investigation to FDA as a well-controlled study in support of a new indication and no intent to use it to support any other significant change in the labeling of the drug.
126 127 128	•	In the case of a prescription drug, the investigation is not intended to support a significant change in the advertising for the drug.
129 130 131 132	•	The investigation does not involve a route of administration, dose, patient population, or other factor that significantly increases the risk (or decreases the acceptability of the risk) associated with the use of the drug product (21 CFR 312.2(b)(1)(iii)).
133 134 135	•	The investigation is conducted in compliance with the requirements for review by an IRB (21 CFR part 56) and with the requirements for informed consent (21 CFR part 50).
136 137 138	•	The investigation is conducted in compliance with the requirements of § 312.7 (i.e., the investigation is not intended to promote or commercialize the drug product).
139	The pa	rty planning to conduct a clinical investigation using a marketed drug is responsible for
140	determ	ining whether the planned study meets the criteria for an exemption. ⁵ The exemption
141	regulat	ion does, however, provide a mechanism for clinical investigators or potential sponsors to
142	seek ac	lvice from FDA on the applicability of the IND regulations to a planned clinical
143	investi	gation if there is uncertainty about such applicability (§ 312.2(e)).
144		
145	Three of	of the criteria for exemption listed previously merit further discussion.
146		
147	•	What is meant by a <i>drug product that is lawfully marketed in the United States</i> ?
148		
149		The preamble to the final rule incorporating the IND exemption criteria into the IND
150		regulations makes clear that the exemption provision was not intended to require use of
151		only the marketed version of the drug product for a clinical investigation to be exempt
152		from the IND requirements. The intent was to provide some latitude to modify the
155		marketed version of the drug product for use in a clinical investigation. In responding to
154		drug product or conditions of use and still be exempt from the IND regulations. EDA
155		stated that:
157		
158		The exemption was not intended to require an investigator to use the drug in
159		exactly the same dosage form, dosage levels, and patient populations

⁵ The preamble to the rule finalizing the IND regulations provides:

FDA recognizes that a considerable amount of professional judgment must be exercised in determining whether the conditions of an investigation "significantly increase" the risk associated with use of the drug. Because the assessment of risks involved in a therapeutic procedure is an everyday part of the practice of medicine, the individual investigator should usually be able to determine the applicability of the exemption.

⁽See the final rule on New Drug, Antibiotic, and Biologic Drug Product Regulations that published in the *Federal Register* of March 19, 1987 (52 FR 8798)).

Draft — Not for Implementation

160described in the marketed labeling for the product, but rather to permit161changes to the lawfully marketed drug product that do not increase the risks .162. . over the risk presented by use of the product in conformance with its163marketed labeling.6

164

167

190

165Therefore, sponsors or sponsor-investigators can make low-risk modifications to the166lawfully marketed dosage form to, for example, blind a study.

168 In making modifications to the marketed dosage form, sponsors and sponsor-169 investigators should consider the potential risk implications of the modifications based on 170 the type and complexity of the dosage form. For example, minor variations to solid oral dosage forms, such as changing the color, scoring, or capsule size of the marketed dosage 171 172 form for blinding purposes, would generally be low risk provided the changes did not 173 involve major manufacturing or formulation changes. Similarly, using capsules to over-174 encapsulate the marketed dosage form would generally be low risk provided the capsule 175 meets appropriate standards. Changes to more complex oral dosage forms and injectable 176 and other non-oral dosage forms would usually carry greater risk. Products that are very 177 sensitive to conditions in their environment (e.g., protein products) also carry greater risk 178 because changes to the formulation, dosage form, manufacturing, or primary packaging 179 may significantly increase risk for such products. 180

181 Given the range of possible modifications to a marketed dosage form, FDA cannot 182 provide comprehensive guidance on the degree of risk presented by all such modifications. If sponsors or sponsor-investigators have concerns about whether changes 183 184 to a lawfully marketed dosage form increase risk to an extent that an IND would be 185 required, they should consult FDA (see section VIII). We recommend they provide FDA 186 with a listing of chemistry, manufacturing, and controls (CMC) variations from the 187 marketed version of the drug product, if CMC information for the marketed product is 188 available to them, and any other pertinent information that would assist FDA in 189 responding to an inquiry.

Is the risk associated with the product significantly increased (or the acceptability of the risk significantly decreased)?

194 Historically, assessing whether a particular use of a drug in a clinical investigation 195 significantly increases the risk, or decreases the acceptability of the risk, compared to its 196 approved use or uses, has been the most difficult issue in determining whether an IND is 197 needed for a clinical investigation of a marketed drug (21 CFR 312.2(b)(1)(iii)). This provision has been particularly difficult in the oncology setting where many of the 198 199 therapies have significant toxicity, and for that reason, FDA has issued guidance to help 200 clinical investigators studying cancer treatments to determine whether the risk associated 201 with the use of the drug in a planned clinical investigation is significantly increased, or

⁶ Final rule, "New Drug, Antibiotic, and Biologic Drug Product Regulations" (52 FR 8798 at 8801, March 19, 1987).

Draft — Not for Implementation

202 the acceptability of the risk is significantly decreased.⁷ FDA's cancer treatment guidance 203 is also a useful reference for clinical studies of marketed drugs in other therapeutic areas, 204 particularly for studies in other serious and life-threatening conditions, as the risk-benefit 205 scenarios are at least somewhat relevant to non-oncologic settings. Investigators should 206 carefully consider the risk implications of any conditions of use in the study that deviate 207 from the conditions of use described in the drug's labeling, with particular attention to the 208 following:

- <u>Route of Administration</u>: A change in the route of administration can introduce a significant new risk. For example, there could be a significant increase in risk if a marketed drug for oral administration is converted to a dosage form that is to be administered by injection or intravenous, intrathecal, or inhalation route. These other routes of administration introduce concerns with sterility, pyrogenicity, hypersensitivity (e.g., airway reactivity), variations in metabolism, and other issues not present with oral administration.
- 218 Dose: Increases in dose, frequency, or duration of administration, compared to 219 labeled dosing regimens, can significantly increase the risk in a study using a 220 marketed drug. It is possible that a decrease in dose could also significantly 221 increase risk. For example, administering a low dose of a pure polysaccharide 222 vaccine to study subjects can induce hypo-immunologic or non-immunologic 223 responses in the subjects and can also induce tolerance to the vaccine, thus 224 making subjects at risk for the infectious disease the vaccine is intended to 225 prevent. The significance of changes in dose (in particular increases in dose) can 226 vary across therapeutic areas. For example, the cancer treatment guidance 227 provides some latitude for conducting studies of high-dose cancer treatments 228 without an IND because of oncologists' familiarity with the implications of high-229 dose regimens, generally. 230
- 231 Patient Population: The acceptability of known and unknown risks can vary 232 considerably across different treatment populations (see § 312.2(b)(1)(iii)). For 233 example, a drug with significant toxicity can be approved for use in a population 234 with life-threatening or severely debilitating disease because the risk of toxicity is 235 acceptable in that population. Use of that drug in a clinical investigation in a population that is not so ill (e.g., to evaluate the drug for prevention of disease or 236 237 symptomatic relief), however, would present a different risk-benefit situation in 238 which the risks would likely not be acceptable. When the acceptability of the risk 239 is significantly decreased, the study would have to be conducted under an IND as 240 required under 21 CFR part 312.

209 210

211

212

213

214

215

216

217

²⁴¹

⁷ See the guidance for industry, *IND Exemptions for Studies of Lawfully Marketed Drug or Biological Products for the Treatment of Cancer* (the cancer treatment guidance). We update guidances periodically. To make sure you have the most recent version of a guidance, check the Drugs guidance page at <u>http://www.fda.gov/Drugs/</u> <u>GuidanceComplianceRegulatoryInformation/Guidances/default.htm</u> and the Biologics guidance page at <u>http://www.fda.gov/BiologicsBloodVaccines/GuidanceComplianceRegulatoryInformation/GuidanceS/default.htm</u>.

Draft — Not for Implementation

Does the sponsor intend to (1) report the investigation to FDA as a well-controlled study in support of a new indication, (2) use it to support any other significant change in the labeling of the drug, or (3) use it to support a significant change in the advertising (for prescription drugs only) for the drug?

Whether a planned clinical investigation will be used to support a new indication, other 247 248 significant labeling change, or advertising claim may not always be known or apparent at 249 the outset of the investigation. Generally, it seems reasonable to infer that the intent of 250 any well-controlled trial of a marketed drug sponsored by the manufacturer of the drug 251 would be to influence labeling or promotion in some way. On the other hand, the 252 sponsor-investigator of an investigator-initiated study in an academic setting (a study 253 designed and initiated by the investigator independent of the manufacturer) probably does 254 not intend that his or her study of a marketed drug influence labeling or promotion, even 255 if the sponsor-investigator is receiving some limited support from the drug's 256 manufacturer. However, certain investigator-initiated research has the potential to 257 influence labeling or promotion, notwithstanding the investigator's intent (e.g., a 258 controlled trial with an endpoint representing improvement of a serious disease). 259 Similarly, certain studies of effectiveness conducted by government agencies (e.g., 260 National Institutes of Health, Veterans Administration) have the potential to influence 261 labeling. FDA strongly encourages IND submissions for these types of studies so that the 262 Agency can have an opportunity to provide advice on study design.

263 264 265

272 273

274

275 276

277

278 279

280

281 282

283

284

246

B. Bioavailability or Bioequivalence Studies in Humans

FDA regulations describe criteria under which bioavailability or bioequivalence (BA/BE) studies using unapproved versions of approved drug products can be conducted without submission of an IND (21 CFR 320.31(b) and (d)). Although these regulations are intended to facilitate development of generic drugs, a planned BA/BE study need not be intended for that purpose to be exempt from the IND regulations. A BA/BE study in humans does not require an IND if all of the following conditions are met:

- The drug product does not contain a new chemical entity (21 CFR 314.108), is not radioactively labeled, and is not cytotoxic.
- The dose (single dose or total daily dose) does not exceed the dose specified in the labeling of the approved version of the drug product.
- The investigation is conducted in compliance with the requirements for review by an IRB (21 CFR part 56) and the requirements for informed consent (21 CFR part 50).
- The sponsor meets the requirements for retention of test article samples (21 CFR 320.31(d)(1)).
- C. Radioactive Drugs for Certain Research Uses
- 285 286

Draft — Not for Implementation

287 FDA regulations (21 CFR 361.1) describe conditions under which radioactive drugs (drugs containing unstable isotopes) can be used for certain research without an IND because they are 288 289 generally recognized as safe and effective for those uses. These regulations apply to radioactive 290 versions of both approved and unapproved drugs.⁸

- 291
- 292

V. CLINICAL INVESTIGATIONS USING COLD ISOTOPES

293

294 Cold isotopes (isotopes that lack radioactivity) have been increasingly used for the same research 295 purposes as radioactive isotopes-to obtain basic information about drug metabolism or about 296 human physiology, pathophysiology, or biochemistry. When used for these basic research 297 purposes, cold (or stable) isotopes ordinarily present fewer safety concerns than radioactive 298 isotopes. Unlike radioactive isotopes, however, there is no specific regulation analogous to 21 299 CFR 361.1 that addresses cold isotopes of approved drugs and unapproved drugs when used for 300 these basic research purposes (see discussion of radioactive isotopes in section IV.C). However, 301 FDA believes there is no need to have more stringent requirements for studies that use cold 302 isotopes than for those that use radioactive isotopes, and historically, FDA has not objected to studies using cold isotopes being conducted without an IND. In exercising its enforcement 303 304 discretion, FDA does not intend to object to clinical investigations using cold isotopes of 305 unapproved drugs being conducted without an IND, provided the following conditions are met 306 (the conditions are based on the criteria for studies using radiolabeled drugs (see 21 CFR 307 361.1)):⁹

308 309

310

311

312

315

The research is intended to obtain basic information regarding the metabolism (including • kinetics, distribution, and localization) of a drug labeled with a cold isotope or regarding human physiology, pathophysiology, or biochemistry.

- 313 The research is not intended for immediate therapeutic, diagnostic, or preventive benefit • 314 to the study subject.
- 316 The dose to be administered is known not to cause any clinically detectable • 317 pharmacologic effect in humans based on clinical data from published literature or other 318 valid human studies. 319
 - The quality of the cold isotope meets relevant quality standards. •
- 320 321

⁸ For information on determining whether human research with a radioactive drug can be conducted under a Radioactive Drug Research Committee (RDRC), see FDA's draft guidance for industry and researchers, The Radioactive Drug Research Committee: Human Research Without an Investigational New Drug Application (the RDRC guidance), issued June 2009, available on the Internet at

http://www.fda.gov/Drugs/GuidanceComplianceRegulatoryInformation/Guidances/default.htm. This draft guidance, when finalized, will provide recommendations on this topic.

⁹ Note that studies using cold isotopes of approved drugs would routinely meet the criteria for exemption from the IND requirements in part 312 for studies of marketed drugs (see section IV.A) because the studies involve such low doses and thus present low risk. Therefore, enforcement discretion is not needed for these studies to be conducted without an IND.

Draft — Not for Implementation

The research is reviewed and approved by an IRB (21 CFR part 56) and informed consent is obtained from the research subjects (21 CFR part 50).

VI. SPECIFIC ISSUES CONCERNING THE APPLICATION OF THE IND REGULATIONS 327

This section addresses certain issues that frequently arise in discussions with outside parties concerning the application of the IND requirements in 21 CFR part 312.

330 331

324

A. Endogenous Compounds

332 333 FDA has received numerous questions concerning the application of the IND requirements to 334 studies in which endogenous compounds are administered to human subjects. A common 335 question is whether *provocation* or *challenge* studies in which an endogenous compound (e.g., 336 bradykinin, histamine, angiotensin) is administered to subjects to evoke a physiologic response, 337 characterize a disease, or establish the mechanism of action are subject to IND requirements. In 338 these cases, the endogenous compound is plainly not being used for a therapeutic purpose. There 339 is, however, intent to affect the structure or function of the body, so the compound would be 340 considered a drug. Therefore, these types of studies are clinical investigations and require an 341 IND under part 312, unless they meet the criteria for an exemption in §§ 312.2(b), 320.31(b), or 342 the criteria in § 361.1 (see section IV) or the endogenous compound is labeled with a cold 343 isotope and used in the manner described in section V.

344 345

346

B. Live Organisms

347 An IND is required for challenge studies in which a live organism (e.g., virus, bacteria, or fungi 348 that is modified or wild-type) is administered to subjects to study the pathogenesis of disease or 349 the host response to the organism (see part 312). Although the challenge organism is not 350 intended to have a therapeutic purpose, there is intent to affect the structure or function of the 351 body. Thus, the organism is a biological product (see 21 CFR 600.3(h)(1)) and a drug, and an 352 IND is required for the clinical investigation, unless the criteria for exemption in 21 CFR 312.2 353 are met. Similarly, an IND is required for a clinical investigation designed to evaluate whether a 354 product colonized with a strain of bacteria and then administered to subjects can treat or prevent 355 disease in patients with a chronic immune disorder.

356

C. Dietary Supplements

357 358

Under the Dietary Supplement Health and Education Act (DSHEA) of 1994, a dietary supplement is defined, in part, as a product taken by mouth that is intended to supplement the diet and that contains a dietary ingredient.¹⁰ The dietary ingredients in these products can include vitamins, minerals, herbs and other botanicals, amino acids, other dietary substances intended to supplement the diet, and concentrates, metabolites, constituents, extracts, or combinations of the preceding types of ingredients. Dietary supplements can be found in many forms such as tablets, capsules, softgels, liquids, or powders.

¹⁰ See section 201(ff) of the FD&C Act (21 U.S.C. 321(ff)).

Draft — Not for Implementation

366

367 Under DSHEA, a dietary supplement is not considered a drug and is not subject to the premarket 368 approval requirements for drugs if the intended use for which it is marketed is only to affect the 369 structure or any function of the body (i.e., not intended to be used for a therapeutic purpose). 370 Similarly, whether an IND is needed for a clinical investigation evaluating a dietary supplement 371 is determined by the intent of the clinical investigation. If the clinical investigation is intended 372 only to evaluate the dietary supplement's effect on the structure or function of the body, an IND 373 is not required.

374

However, if the clinical investigation is intended to evaluate the dietary supplement's ability to
diagnose, cure, mitigate, treat, or prevent a disease,¹¹ an IND is required under part 312. For
example, a clinical investigation designed to study the relationship between a dietary
supplement's effect on normal structure or function in humans (e.g., calcium and bone mass) or
to characterize the mechanism by which a dietary supplement acts to maintain such structure or
function (e.g., fiber and bowel regularity) would not need to be conducted under an IND.

381 However, a clinical investigation designed to evaluate a dietary supplement's ability to prevent

382 osteoporosis or to treat diarrhea or constipation would need to be conducted under an IND under 383 part 312.

384 385

D. Research with Noncommercial Intent

386 387 There seems to be a belief among some investigators and IRBs that the IND regulations do not 388 apply to clinical investigations that are not intended to investigate a drug's potential for 389 commercial sale. This belief is not correct. Whether the IND regulations apply to a planned 390 clinical investigation does not depend on whether the intent of the clinical investigation is 391 commercial or noncommercial. Therefore, these types of studies would require an IND under 392 part 312, unless they meet the criteria for an exemption in §§ 312.2(b), 320.31(b), or the criteria 393 in § 361.1 (see section IV) or the compound used is labeled with a cold isotope and used in the 394 manner described in section V.

395 396

VII. FREQUENTLY ASKED QUESTIONS

397 398 1 Do I need an IND if I use a lawfulb

Do I need an IND if I use a lawfully marketed drug for an unlabeled indication?

400 If you prescribe a marketed drug to treat a patient for an unlabeled indication (also referred to 401 as *off-label* use), an IND is not required because this use is considered to be within the scope 402 of medical practice and not a clinical investigation. However, if you use the marketed drug 403 for the same purpose in a clinical investigation intended to evaluate the drug's ability to treat 404 a disease or condition, an IND is required under part 312 unless the clinical investigation 405 meets the criteria for an exemption for studies of lawfully marketed drugs in § CFR 312.2(b) 406 (see section IV.A).

407

¹¹ For purposes of the dietary supplement labeling requirements, a "'disease' is damage to an organ, part, structure, or system of the body such that it does not function properly (e.g., cardiovascular disease), or a state of health leading to such dysfunctioning (e.g., hypertension); except that diseases resulting from essential nutrient deficiencies (e.g., scurvy, pellagra) are not included in this definition" (21 CFR 101.93(g)).

Draft — Not for Implementation

408 2. If a drug marketed for use in adults is studied in an investigator-initiated, single-center 409 study involving children, is an IND needed? 410 411 An IND is required under part 312 unless the clinical investigation meets the criteria for an 412 exemption in § 312.2(b) (see section IV.A). The criterion of most importance for the 413 exemption in this situation is whether the change in study population from adult to pediatric, 414 or any other condition of use in the study, would significantly increase the risks (or decrease 415 the acceptability of the risks) associated with the use of the drug (21 CFR 312.2(b)(1)(iii)). 416 Whether risk would be significantly increased would depend on a variety factors, including, 417 for example, the age of the pediatric population being studied, the extent of prior pediatric 418 experience with the drug in clinical studies or clinical practice, the amount of information 419 available to support dosing in the study population, and the overall toxicity profile of the 420 drug. 421 422 3. There are drugs on the market that have not been approved by FDA. Do clinical 423 investigations using those drugs need an IND? 424 425 There are certain currently marketed drug ingredients that were first marketed before 426 Congress passed the FD&C Act of 1938 (requiring demonstration of safety before marketing) 427 or before it passed the 1962 amendments to the FD&C Act (requiring demonstration of 428 effectiveness and safety before marketing). Sponsors of clinical investigations that use 429 products with these ingredients should consult with FDA about the need for an IND under 430 part 312. 431 432 4. Can I do research on radiolabeled endogenous peptides, such as neuropeptides, without an 433 IND? 434 435 If the research is intended to obtain basic information about the metabolism of the peptide or 436 its role in physiology, pathophysiology, and biochemistry, and the criteria in 21 CFR 361.1 437 are met (i.e., among other things, the dose of endogenous peptide to be administered is 438 known not to cause a clinically detectable pharmacologic effect in humans), then an IND is 439 not required (see the RDRC guidance). However, if the study hypothesis concerns the 440 diagnosis, cure, mitigation, treatment, or prevention of a disease in patients, or the criteria in 441 § 361.1 are otherwise not met, an IND is required under part 312. 442 443 5. Do clinical investigations of positron emission tomography (PET) drugs need INDs? 444 445 Normally, an IND is required unless a PET drug investigation meets the criteria in 21 CFR 446 361.1 The research must be intended to obtain basic information regarding the metabolism 447 (including kinetics, distribution, and localization) of a radioactively labeled drug or regarding 448 human physiology, pathophysiology, or biochemistry, but not intended for immediate 449 therapeutic, diagnostic, or similar purposes or to determine the safety and effectiveness of the 450 drug in humans for such purposes (i.e., to carry out a clinical trial) (21 CFR 361.1(a)). 451

Draft — Not for Implementation

452 6. If a complementary or alternative medicine that was derived from organic materials from a
453 botanical source (e.g., broccoli, sprouts) is administered to subjects to study cancer
454 prevention, is an IND required?
455

A clinical investigation of a complementary or alternative medicine derived from organic
 materials that is intended to evaluate the medicine's ability to diagnose, cure, mitigate, treat,
 or prevent disease requires an IND under part 312.¹²

460
461
461 amelioration of symptoms of a disease or prevention of the disease?
462

Even when a microorganism is attenuated with the intention to increase safety of a product, a
clinical investigation that evaluates the potential for that microorganism to relieve symptoms
of a disease or prevent the disease requires an IND under part 312, unless the study meets the
criteria for an exemption under 21 CFR 312.2(b).

468 8. If a product containing substances generally recognized as safe (GRAS) for use in food is
469 administered to subjects in a study intended to evaluate the effect of the substance on the
470 pathogenesis of a human disease, is an IND required?

Substances designated as GRAS for use in food are not approved as drug products. A
clinical investigation of a GRAS substance that is intended to evaluate the product's ability to
diagnose, cure, mitigate, treat, or prevent disease requires an IND under part 312, unless the
substance to be studied is also a lawfully marketed drug and the clinical investigation meets
the criteria for exemption under 21 CFR 312.2(b).

477

459

467

471

478
9. For purposes of the exemption from the IND requirements for studies using radioisotopes and
479
479 FDA's exercise of enforcement discretion for studies using cold isotopes, what support is
480 needed to determine that the labeled drug does not have a clinically detectable
481 pharmacological effect?

482

483 There is no requirement for a formal dose-response study to define the lower threshold for a 484 clinically detectable pharmacological effect, and in some cases a study may not be needed. 485 For example, if the labeled drug is an endogenous compound and the circulating blood levels 486 or excretion rates of the endogenously produced substance are well known, there could be a 487 basis to conclude that some small fraction of these levels or rates of administration (e.g., 488 administration over a given interval of a very low percentage of the amount of a substance 489 that is produced endogenously during the same interval) represents an amount without 490 detectable pharmacological effect. Similarly, if large amounts of a substance such as an 491 amino acid or a sugar are regularly consumed as foodstuffs, it may be possible to conclude 492 that consumption of a small amount of these substances (e.g., a small percentage of the 493 amount usually consumed during a meal), at least by the oral route, would be without 494 detectable pharmacological activity (also see footnote 8). 495

¹² See the guidance for industry on *Botanical Drug Products*, available on the Internet at <u>http://www.fda.gov/Drugs/GuidanceComplianceRegulatoryInformation/Guidances/default.htm</u>.

496	10. Do I need an IND if my study uses a home-made version of a lawfully marketed drug?
497	Company in a start of the second start of the second start of the second start is a start of the second st
498	Some investigators, or research pharmacles affiliated with the institution in which an
499	investigator is conducting a study, compound their own versions of lawfully marketed drug
500	products for use in clinical studies. For example, FDA is aware of instances in which the
501	methacholine used in respiratory studies for challenge purposes has been prepared locally
502	from raw materials obtained from a chemical supply company. Studies that use a drug
503	product that is prepared from raw materials by, or at the benest of, the sponsor or investigator
504	in place of the approved, finished product marketed by its manufacturer must be conducted
505	from the IND requirements for monitored drugs (\$ 212.2(k)) because the drug request
500	from the IND requirements for marketed drugs (§ 312.2(b)) because the drug product
507	manufactured by the investigator of research pharmacy is not considered to be the fawfully
500	marketed drug, nor is the drug product generally recognized as sale and effective, in which
510	case the IND requirements do not apply (§ 501.1).
511	11 Do I need an IND if my study annolls only a small number of subjects?
512	11. Do Theed an IND if my sludy enrolls only a small number of subjects:
512	The number of subjects enrolled has no bearing on whether the study is subject to the IND
513	regulations. The definition of <i>clinical investigation</i> specifically includes studies with as few
515	as one subject (see section III B)
516	
517	12. Do I need an IND if my study enrolls only healthy volunteers?
518	
519	The clinical condition of study subjects (e.g., the presence or absence of disease) has no
520	bearing on whether the study is subject to the IND requirements in part 312. The definition
521	of <i>clinical investigation</i> refers only to subjects involved in an experiment. It makes no
522	distinction between healthy subjects or those with a disease (see section III.B).
523	
524	VIII. PROCESS FOR ADDRESSING INQUIRIES CONCERNING THE
525	APPLICATION OF THE IND REQUIREMENTS
526	
527	The sponsor (or sponsor-investigator of an individual investigator-initiated study) should be able
528	to determine whether the IND regulations apply to a planned clinical investigation as required
529	under 21 CFR 312.2(a). If a sponsor is uncertain, however, we recommend that the sponsor
530	contact the appropriate review division (i.e., for the therapeutic area being studied) in the
531	appropriate center for advice about whether the IND regulations apply (21 CFR 312.2(e)). For
532	products regulated by CDER, an inquiry concerning the application of the IND regulations
533	should be directed to the Chief, Project Management Staff, in the appropriate CDER review
534	division. For products regulated by CBER, the inquiry should be directed to the applications
535	division of the appropriate review Office.
536	
551 520	Organizational charts listing the CDEK review divisions and their phone numbers are available
520	up 125674 htm Organizational aborta listing the CDED review divisions and their share
539 540	numbers are available on the Internet at http://www.fda.gov/AboutEDA/ContersOffices/
540 541	Organization Charts/ucm1350/3 htm. If the relevant raviaw division is not known, we
J41	Organization Charts/uclin 55945.1111. If the relevant review division is not known, we

542 543 544 545	recommend the sponsor contact CDER's Division of Drug Information or CBER's Division of Manufacturer's Assistance and Training (<u>matt@cber.fda.gov</u>), Office of Communication, Outreach and Development (both addresses and phone numbers are provided on the second title page of this guidance).		
546 547 548 549	FDA will categorize inquiries concerning the application of the IND regulations as either informal or formal based on the following factors:		
550	• The medium in which the inquiry is received		
551	• The relative complexity of the inquiry		
552	• The type of response requested by the inquirer or given by FDA		
553			
554 555	Informal inquiries have the following features:		
556 557 558	• They can be communicated either orally or in writing (written communication includes e- mail, fax, or other written correspondence).		
559 560	• They can pose only relatively uncomplicated questions about a planned clinical investigation that FDA can answer based on somewhat limited information.		
561 562 563	• The inquirer is not seeking a formal written response.		
563 564 565 566 567 568 569 570 571	In response to an inquiry intended to be informal, FDA can (1) provide an informal (qualified, nonbinding) response, either orally or in writing, concerning the applicability of the IND regulations based on its understanding of the planned clinical investigation; (2) ask for additional information before providing an informal response; or (3) determine that the inquiry poses a complex question that should be submitted as a formal inquiry. FDA will not retain and track informal responses to inquiries concerning the applicability of the IND regulations to planned clinical investigations.		
572 573	Formal inquiries have all of the following features:		
574 575	• They are in writing (can be paper or electronic).		
576 577	• They can pose a question of any level of complexity.		
578 579 580	• The inquirer is seeking a formal written response or FDA determines that a formal written response should be given (i.e., that the inquiry cannot be answered informally).		
581 582 583 584	• The documentation contains enough detail to permit FDA to provide a formal response concerning the applicability of the IND regulations to a planned clinical investigation (e.g., a study protocol, information about the drug product).		
585	In response to a formal inquiry, FDA may provide a formal written response concerning the		
586	application of the IND requirements (part 312) to a planned clinical investigation or may		
587	determine that it has insufficient information to provide a formal response and seek additional		

- information before providing a response. The scope of any formal response would be limited tothe conduct of a clinical investigation consistent with the investigation described in
- 590 documentation provided to FDA. If there are significant changes to the protocol or other aspects
- 591 of the planned investigation after FDA has provided a response, that response may no longer be
- 592 valid. FDA will track formal inquiries.

593	APPENDIX
594	
595 596	Other Guidances That May Be Relevant to Questions Concerning the Application of the IND Requirements
590 597	the Application of the IND Requirements
598 599	FDA has issued guidances in related areas. Interested persons may wish to refer to the following documents, available on the Internet at
600	http://www.fda.gov/Drugs/GuidanceComplianceRegulatoryInformation/Guidances/default.htm:
601 602 603 604 605 606	• Guidance for industry on <i>Botanical Drug Products</i> , which includes guidance on submitting INDs for botanical drug products, including those botanical products currently lawfully marketed as foods (including conventional foods and dietary supplements) in the United States.
607 608 609 610 611 612	• Guidance for industry, investigators, and reviewers on <i>Exploratory IND Studies</i> , which is intended to clarify what preclinical and clinical approaches, as well as chemistry, manufacturing, and controls information, should be considered when planning exploratory studies in humans, including studies of closely related drugs or therapeutic biological products, under an IND.
612 613 614 615 616	• Draft guidance for industry on <i>INDsApproaches to Complying with CGMP During Phase 1</i> , issued January 2006. When finalized, this guidance will provide recommendations on this topic.
617 618 619 620	• Draft guidance for industry, <i>Complementary and Alternative Medicine Products and Their Regulation by the Food and Drug Administration</i> , issued December 2006. When finalized, this guidance will provide recommendations on this topic.
621 622 623 624 625 626 627 628	• Draft guidance for industry and researchers, <i>The Radioactive Drug Research Committee:</i> <i>Human Research Without an Investigational New Drug Application</i> , issued June 2009. When finalized, this guidance will clarify whether research using a radioactive drug must be conducted under an IND (21 CFR part 312), may be exempt from IND requirements (21 CFR 312.2(b)), or if certain conditions are met, can be conducted under the supervision and approval of an FDA-approved Radioactive Drug Research Committee (21 CFR 361.1) without an IND. In addition, FDA has established a Web site at http://www.fda.gov/Drugs/ScienceResearch/ResearchAreas/Oncology/default.htm for
629	easy access to information by IRBs, clinical investigators, sponsors, and others.